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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
ORLANDO DIVISION
FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION and
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL,
STATE OF FLORIDA,
Plaintiffs,

Case no. 6:16-cv-982-Orl-41TBS

vs.
LIFE MANAGEMENT SERVICES
OF ORANGE COUNTY, LLC, et al.,
Defendants.
/
RECEIVER’S MOTION FOR APPROVAL
OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE TUFF LIFE II
AND FOR AUTHORITY TO SELL YACHT
Mark J. Bernet (the "Receiver"), as Receiver for Life Management Services of Orange
County, LLC, Loyal Financial & Credit Services, LLC, IVD Recovery, LLC, KWP Services,
LLC, KWP Services of Florida, LLC, LPSOFFLA LLC, LPSOFFLORIDA L.L.C., PW&F
Consultants of Florida, LLC, UAD Secure Services LLC, UAD Secure Service of FL LLC, URB
Management, LLC, YCC Solutions LLC and YFP Solutions LLC (collectively the “Receivership
Defendants”), moves the Court for entry of an order (i) approving a Settlement Agreement
between the Receiver and the Defendant Kevin Guice, and (ii) authorizing the Receiver to sell
the yacht named Tuff Life II at an absolute auction sale. In support of this motion the Receiver
submits the accompanying memorandum.
I.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND.

The Plaintiffs, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC") and the State of Florida, Office of
the Attorney General (“FLAG”) commenced this case by filing their Complaint for Permanent
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Injunction and Other Relief (doc. no. 1), on Tuesday, June 7, 2016. In their Complaint the FTC
and FLAG alleged that the defendants operated their businesses in violation of Section 5(a) of
the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.A. §45(a), in violation of the Telemarketing Sales Rule, 16 CFR Part 310,
and in violation of the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Fla. Stat. §§501.201 et
seq. The FTC and FLAG specifically alleged that since 2013 the Defendants "engaged in a
telemarketing scheme that defrauds financially distressed consumers by selling them two types
of phony debt relief services: credit card interest rate-reduction services . . . and credit-card
debt-elimination services." The FTC and FLAG alleged that since 2013 the Defendants "have
initiated hundreds of thousands of illegal telephone calls to consumers throughout the United
States," including to consumers on the National Do-Not-Call Registry. The FTC and FLAG also
alleged that the Defendants utilized unlawful "robocalls" and that the Defendants utilized a host
of deceptive and misleading representations to try to induce consumers to agree to pay for either
the credit-card interest-rate-reduction product or service (hereafter referred to as the "Lower
Interest Rate" or more simply the "LI" product or service) or the credit-card debt-elimination
product or service (hereafter referred to as the "Debt Elimination" or more simply the "DE"
product or service). The FTC and FLAG also allege that the LI and DE products or services do
not work, and that the cost to consumers for the LI and DE products or services far outweighs
any benefits that consumers receive from either product or service. As relief, the FTC and
FLAG requested preliminary and permanent injunctive relief; a monetary judgment in an amount
necessary to redress injury to consumers; fines; and the costs of bringing the lawsuit.
The Plaintiffs also filed Plaintiffs’ ex parte Motion for a Temporary Restraining Order
with Asset Freeze, Appointment of a Receiver, Other Equitable Relief and an Order to Show
Cause why a Preliminary Injunction should not Issue, together with a supporting memorandum
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of law. At approximately 1:00 p.m. on June 8, 2016, this Court granted the Plaintiffs' motion
and entered an Ex Parte Temporary Restraining Order (hereafter the “TRO”). Among other
things, the TRO appointed the Receiver as receiver for each of the 13 Receivership Defendants.
See Section XIV, p. 18 of the TRO. The Court also scheduled a hearing for June 22, 2016, at
which the Defendants were directed to appear and show cause why the Court should not enter a
Preliminary Injunction.
At the June 22, 2016 show-cause hearing, none of the Receivership Defendants were
represented by counsel, and no counsel had appeared on any of their behalfs. The Court was
advised that most of the individual Defendants were prepared to stipulate to a preliminary
injunction. The individual Defendants Clarence H. Wahl and Karen M. Wahl initially advised
that they opposed the entry of a preliminary injunction, based on their argument that certain
funds in their accounts at McCoy Federal Credit Union should not have been frozen by the TRO
but should be made available to them. After discussions between the Wahls' attorney and
counsel for the Plaintiffs, the Wahls agreed to the entry of a Preliminary Injunction, subject to
the release of a small amount of the frozen funds.
II.

THE TUFF LIFE II

In the TRO the Court directed the defendants to complete financial disclosure forms and
to provide them to the Plaintiffs and the Receiver. In the financial disclosures, the Defendant
Kevin Guice ("K. Guice") disclosed that he owns a 55' Ocean Yacht, named the Tuff Life II. The
Tuff Life II presently is docked at Port Canaveral. The cost of maintaining the yacht, including
insurance, slip fees and other maintenance expenses, is approximately $1,500 per month.
However, as a consequence of the TRO K. Guice is not able to fund these expenses. This places
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the Tuff Life II at risk of waste; unpaid slip fees likely will result in liens against the yacht, and a
general lack of maintenance will cause the yacht to suffer a decline in value.
The Receiver has asserted that the funds utilized to purchase and refurbish the Tuff Life II
originated with one or more of the Receivership Defendants. The Receiver has asserted, and can
assert, a claim to the Tuff Life II under various legal and equitable theories, including
constructive trust and fraudulent transfer. However, to avoid the risk and cost of litigation, the
Receiver and K. Guice have entered into a Settlement Agreement, a copy of which is attached as
Exhibit "1." Subject to this Court's approval, under the Settlement Agreement, K. Guice would
surrender control of the Tuff Life II to the Receiver, who would sell it at a public, absolute
auction for the benefit of the Receivership Estates.
Selling the Tuff Life II is in the best economic interests of the Receivership Estates, and
K. Guice. As matters stand, K. Guice is unable to fund the necessary maintenance costs and slip
fees, which places the yacht at significant risk of waste and deterioration of its value. The
Receiver likewise is not willing to commit funds of the Receivership Estate for the maintenance
of the Tuff Life II, absent a benefit to the Receivership Estates. Liquidating the yacht in short
order therefore would accomplish the objectives of maximizing its value and preventing it from
deterioration.
By entering into the Settlement Agreement, and by not opposing this motion, K. Guice
does not admit to the facts that would support the Receiver's claims to the Tuff Life II, nor does
he intend to waive any rights or privileges, including without limitation his privilege against selfincrimination under the constitutions of the United States of America or the State of Florida.
The Receiver reserves all rights to assert and prosecute other claims against K. Guice or his
assets under constructive trust, fraudulent transfer, or other legal or equitable theories, except
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that the Receiver has agreed that he will not, pending a final resolution of the claims between the
Plaintiffs and K. Guice, pursue claims against K. Guice's vehicles, home or other personal assets.
III.

PROPOSED SALE TERMS

Subject to the approval of the Court, the Receiver proposes to hire John Harris of Harris
Auctions, LLC, to auction the Tuff Life II at a public, absolute auction. The principal advantages
of auctions are (i) they guaranty that property can be sold quickly,1 and (ii) if marketed properly,
they bring all interested potential purchasers into one forum at the same time. The Receiver
routinely conducts public auctions of properties owned by companies in receivership, because
with proper advance marketing a public auction is the best way to maximize the value of
property to be sold. The Tuff Life II would be sold on an "as-is, where-is" basis, and without any
representations or warranties of any kind or nature, including any warranty of fitness for any
particular purpose. The Receiver has previously employed Mr. Harris to liquidate various items
of property, including: yachts, boats and other watercraft; heavy equipment (dump trucks,
bulldozers, etc.); real estate (including hotels and luxury real estate); collectibles (coins, crystal,
baseball cards and other sports memorabilia, etc.); high-end jewelry and watches; guns; and
luxury vehicles (including a collection of Ferraris).2
The Receiver proposes to sell the Tuff Life II in an absolute auction, meaning that the
highest bidder will win the auction, regardless of price. Having engineered at least a dozen
auctions over the past 10 or more years, the Receiver has learned that the ability to market an
auction to interested potential buyers as "absolute," as opposed to setting minimum reserve bids

1

Under 28 U.S.C. §§2001(b) and 2004, a receiver cannot sell personal property in a private sale absent three
independent appraisals of the property to be sold. See Section IV below.
2
Mr. Harris has been employed under federal court order on several occasions. See e.g. Order Granting Receiver's
Agreed Motion for Authority to Conduct Auction Sale of Jet Skis and Trailer, dated October 8, 2014, in Consumer
Financial Protection Bureau, et al. v. Michael Harper, et al., no. 14 CV 80931/COHN/SELZER, United States
District Court, Southern District of Florida.
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on the property to be sold, vastly increases the interest of bidders and facilitates a greater turnout
and ultimately, a better sale price.
Because of a longstanding relationship, Mr. Harris is prepared to charge a fee that is
below the customary rate. The auction would include a 10 percent "buyer's premium," which
means that the final sale price would be the amount of the successful bid, plus 10 percent. The
auctioneer would receive 75 percent of the buyer's premium, plus 5 percent of the total price
(including the buyer's premium). Thus, for example, if the Tuff Life II should sell for $150,000
at auction, then:
•

The total sale price to the buyer would be $165,000 ($150,000 plus the 10

percent buyer's premium of $15,000);
•

The auctioneer would be paid $20,000, consisting of (i) $11,250.00 (75

percent of the $15,000 buyer's premium), plus (ii) $8,250 (5 percent of $165,000).
The Receiver also would reimburse the auctioneer for the cost of marketing, up to $3,000.
IV.

LEGAL AUTHORITY

Under 28 U.S.C. §§2001 & 2004, a district court has the authority to direct an appointed
federal equity receiver to arrange a public sale of any real or personal property under the
receivership. See e.g. Order, FTC v. Johnson, no. 2:10-CV-02203-RLH-GWF, United States
District Court, District of Nevada (August 25, 2011). Here, the TRO directs the Receiver to
"[c]onserve, hold and manage all receivership Assets, and perform all acts necessary or advisable in
the opinion of the Receiver to preserve the value of those Assets . . . ."3 In his business judgment
the Receiver submits that the value of the Tuff Life II can best be realized by avoiding the ongoing

3

Similar provisions are contained in the proposed Preliminary Injunction presently under consideration by the
Court.
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expenses of insurance, maintenance, storage and protection. Liquidating the Tuff Life II therefore
presents the most efficient means of proceeding.
An alternate means of liquidating the yacht would be to list it with a yacht broker, who
would solicit a private sale. The cost would be roughly the same as would be charged by the
Receiver's proposed auctioneer (the industry standard for yacht brokers is to charge a 10 percent
sales commission). However, under 28 U.S.C. §§2001(b) and 2004, a Court cannot authorize a
private sale of personal property until after it first appoints "three disinterested persons to appraise
[the personal property]," and then only if the proposed sale price is at least two-thirds of the
appraised value. 4 Also, the Court must publish notice of any proposed private sale "in such
newspaper or newspapers of general circulation as the court directs at least ten days before
confirmation [of the sale]." The proposed sale is then subject to competing offers that exceed the
proposed sale price by 10 percent or more. These statutory requirements of a private sale would add
expense and delay, and also tend to depress the interest of potential purchasers, who often are not
comfortable being set up as "stalking horses." These cumbersome statutory requirements, however,
do not apply to a public auction; accordingly, a public auction is, in the Receiver's business
judgment, the preferable sales procedure.
V.

CONCLUSION

The Court should approve the proposed settlement between the Receiver and K. Guice.
The settlement affords a practical solution to the problem of how to maintain an expensive asset
and to prevent it from declining in value. By agreeing to the settlement, K. Guice reserves all
rights and privileges, and admits no wrongdoing, and the Receiver commits not to pursue K.
Guice's other personal assets at this time. The Court also should authorize the Receiver to

4

The necessity of obtaining three appraisals is mandatory for a private sale, even where the cost of the appraisals
exceeds the value of the receivership estate. SEC v. T-Bar Resources, LLC, 2008 WL 4790987 (N.D. Tex. 2008).
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employ John Harris and Harris Auctions, LLC as the Receiver's auctioneer, on the terms
identified above, for the purpose of selling the Tuff Life II at an absolute auction sale, to be held
within approximately 45 days.
LOCAL RULE 3.01(g) CERTIFICATION
The Receiver certifies that, prior to filing this motion he consulted with all counsel who have
appeared in this case for any party, and that all such counsel advised that they do not oppose the relief
requested herein, except that, attorney Mario Ceballos, who represents defendants Jackowski,
LPSOFFLA, LPSOFFLORIDA and YFP Solutions has not advised as to whether he opposes the
requested relief.5 The Receiver therefore can advise the Court that most, but not all, of the parties do not
oppose the requested relief.

Dated:

Tampa, Florida
July 6, 2016

/s/ Mark J. Bernet
Mark J. Bernet, Receiver
401 E. Jackson Street, Suite 1700
Tampa, Florida 33602
Telephone: (813) 223-7333
Facsimile: (813) 218-5495
Email: mark.bernet@akerman.com
Secondary: judy.barton@akerman.com

5

The Court's TRO and preliminary injunctions direct the defendants to turn over to the Receiver all of the corporate
records and assets of the Receivership Defendants. Mr. Ceballos also has not responded to the Receiver's written
demand for documentation from the Receivership Defendants LPSOFFLA, LPSOFFLORIDA and YFP Solutions.
The Receiver may have to proceed with a motion requesting that Mr. Ceballos' clients appear and show cause why
they should not be held in contempt for violating the Court's TRO and preliminary injunctions.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
I CERTIFY that on July 6, 2016, a copy of the foregoing was served by electronic or U.S.
mail to:
Tejasvi M. Srimushnam, Esquire
Joshua A. Doan, Esquire
Federal Trade Commission
600 Pennsylvania Ave., NW
Mail Stop H-286
Washington, DC 20580
E-mail: tsrimushnam@ftc.gov
jdoan@ftc.gov

Jennifer Hinton Knutton, Esquire
Denise Beamer, Esquire
Office of the Attorney General
Consumer Protection Division
135 W. Central Boulevard, Suite 670
Orlando, FL 32801
E-mail: jennifer.knutton@myfloridalegal.com
denise.beamer@myfloridalegal.com

Andrew Cove, Esquire
Cove & Associates, P.A.
225 S 21st Ave
Hollywood, FL 33020-5009
E-mail: anc@covelaw.com

Mario A. Ceballos, Esquire
The Ceballos Law Firm, P.A.
638 Broadway Avenue
Orlando, Florida 32803
E-mail: mceballos@ceballos-law.com

David P. Hill, Esquire
Law Offices of David P. Hill
214 Annie Street
Orlando, Florida 32806
E-mail: dphillpa@cfl.rr.com

Elias R. Hilal, Esquire
William Hilal Wigand, PLLC
633 SE 3rd Avenue, Suite 301
Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301
E-mail: elias.hilal@erhlaw.com

/s/ Mark J. Bernet
Mark J. Bernet, Receiver
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EXHIBIT 1
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